No. 91703-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON



COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I No: 70830-9-I



STEVEN W. HYDE and SANDRA D. BROOKE, husband and wife

Petitioners,

VS.

THE ASSOCIATION OF UNIVERSITY PHYSICIANS d/b/a UW PHYSICIANS, a Washington corporation,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CARL A. TAYLOR LOPEZ:

Lopez & Fantel, Inc., P.S.

2292 W. Commodore Way, Suite 200

Seattle, WA 98199 Tel: (206) 322-5200

1.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS
2.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1
3.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
shall be privile; to all . require state ev	A. Is a significant question of constitutional law presented where 1, Section 12 of the Washington Constitution provides: "No law e passed granting to any corporation other than municipal, ges or immunities which upon the same terms shall not belong equally corporations" and the Court of Appeals finds the claim filing ement of RCW 4.92.110 applies to private corporations created by the ven though the legislature did not include such a requirement in the
Constitution Const	B. Is a significant constitutional issue related to separation of spresented where Article 2, Section 26 of the Washington tution provides the legislature shall direct "in what manner, and in ourts, suit may be brought against the state" and the Court of Appeals, legislature, adds private corporations created by the state to the claim tation statute?
state's Court of the state longsta	C. RCW 4.92.110 imposes a claim presentation requirement of commencement of tort actions "against the state, or against the officers, employees, or volunteers, acting in such capacity." Is the of Appeals decision, which adds private corporations established by the to the list enumerated by the legislature in conflict with anding Supreme Court precedent which states the courts will not add to an unambiguous statute?
	D. Is there a substantial public interest in having those entities are subject to the claim filing requirement of RCW 4.92.110 clearly ambiguously identified by the statute?

4.	STAT	STATEMENT OF CASE2			
5.	SUM	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT4			
6.	ARGU	ARGUMENT5			
	A.	The Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 4.92.110 creates a violation of the Washington State Constitution			
	B.	RCW 4.92.110 is unambiguous and adding language to the statute by the Court of Appeals was error			
7.	CONC	CLUSION15			
Appendix A		Court of Appeals Opinion			
Appendix B		Constitution of the State of Washington, Art. I, §12 Constitution of the State of Washington, Art. I, §29 Constitution of the State of Washington, Art. II, §26			
Appendix C		RCW 4.92.110 RCW 4.96.010			
Appendix D		Washington Secretary of State corporation registration for The Association of University Physicians			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
Cases
<u>Daggs v. City of Seattle</u> , 110 Wn.2d 49, 53, 750 P.2d 626 (1988)7
Dot Foods, Inc. v. Washington Dept. of Revenue, 166 Wn.2d 912, 920, 215 P.3d 185 (2009)
Good v. Associated Students, 86 Wn.2d 94, 542 P.2d 762 (1975)
<u>Hardesty v. Stenchever</u> , 82 Wn.App. 253, 917 P.2d 577 (1996)14
Kleyer v. Harborview Medical Center, 76 Wn.App. 542, 887 P.2d 468 (1995)
<u>Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283</u> (2010)
Medina v. Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Benton County, 147 Wn.2d 303, 310, 53 P.3d 993 (2002)
Ockletree v. Franciscan Health System, 179 Wn.2d 769, 317 P.3d 1009 (2014)
Putnam v. Wenatchee Valley Medical Center, 166 Wn.2d 974, 980, 216 P.3d 374 (2009)
Woods v. Bailet, 116 Wn.App. 658, 67 P.3d 511 (2003)13
Statutes
Constitution of the State of Washington, Art. I, §12
RCW 4.92.110
RCW 4.96.01012
RCW 24.033,6,13

RCW 35.21.730	3,6,13
---------------	--------

- 1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS. Petitioners Steven W. Hyde and Sandra D. Brooke are husband and wife. They were plaintiffs in the Superior Court action and respondents in the Court of Appeals. They seek review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part 2 of this Petition.
- 2. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION. Petitioners seek review of the published opinion in Steven W. Hyde and Sandra D.

 Brooke, husband and wife v. University of Washington Medical Center,

 State of Washington, and the Association of University Physicians, d/b/a

 UW Physicians, Cause No. 70830-9-1. The published opinion was filed

 April 13, 2015. The only defendant involved in the Court of Appeals case is

 The Association of University Physicians d/b/a UW Physicians, which is a

 private corporation. A copy of the published opinion is in Appendix A at
 pages 1 through 12.

3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Is a significant question of constitutional law presented where Article 1, Section 12 of the Washington Constitution provides: "No law shall be passed granting to any . . . corporation other than municipal, privileges or immunities which upon the same terms shall not belong equally to all . . . corporations" and the Court of Appeals finds the claim filing requirement of RCW 4.92.110 applies to private corporations created by the

state even though the legislature did not include such a requirement in the statute?

- B. Is a significant constitutional issue related to separation of powers presented where Article 2, Section 26 of the Washington Constitution provides the legislature shall direct "in what manner, and in what courts, suit may be brought against the state" and the Court of Appeals, not the legislature, adds private corporations created by the state to the claim presentation statute.
- C. RCW 4.92.110 imposes a claim presentation requirement prior to commencement of tort actions "against the state, or against the state's officers, employees, or volunteers, acting in such capacity." Is the Court of Appeals decision, which adds private corporations established by the state to the list enumerated by the legislature in conflict with longstanding Supreme Court precedent which states the courts will not add words to an unambiguous statute?
- D. Is there a substantial public interest in having those entities which are subject to the claim filing requirement of RCW 4.92.110 clearly and unambiguously identified by the statute?

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The Association of University Physicians dba UW Physicians (hereinafter referred to as "the Association") is a private, non-profit

corporation created under Chapter 24.03 RCW. CP 145. It is not a municipal corporation; it is not a "public corporation" created pursuant to RCW 35.21.730. Nevertheless, it seeks application of the claim filing requirement of RCW 4.92.110 to achieve dismissal of Steven Hyde's medical negligence claim against it.

The purpose of the Association is to provide patient care, among other things. CP 146. The Association pays its physicians for medical All patient care services rendered by services rendered. CP 147. physician members of the Association are billed for and collected on behalf of the Association. CP 149. The Association has no claim upon the University salary of any of its members. CP 149. Association funds are kept in accounts or investments separate from those of the School of Medicine and the University of Washington. CP 149. The Association is required to reimburse the University of Washington for expenses directly attributable to the generation or collection of physician fee income by physician members of the Association. CP 151. The Association reimburses the University for its share of the cost of professional liability insurance and the risk management program administered by the University of Washington. CP 151.

Dr. Virany Hillard was apparently the physician whose negligence led to Steven Hyde's injuries. Dr. Hillard was a physician member of and

employed by the Association. CP 143. She is not a party to this action. She is an employee of the Association. Her faculty appointment letter states: "As a faculty member you will have membership and employment with the University of Washington Physicians" CP 143. University of Washington Physicians is the Association.

The Association billed Steven Hyde for medical care rendered him by Dr. Hillard. CP 160. The Association bill stated: "IMPORTANT: This statement reflects Physician services only. You may receive a separate statement for hospital/clinic charges." CP 157.

Steven Hyde filed suit against the Association for alleged negligence by its employee, Dr. Hillard. CP 1. He did not file an RCW 4.92.110 claim before filing suit against the Association. The Association moved for dismissal on that basis. The superior court denied the motion. CP 79 and 92.

Because the issue involved was one of first impression with potentially dispositive impact, both sides and the superior court supported discretionary review, which was granted. The Court of Appeals reversed the order denying summary judgment in an opinion which was filed April 13, 2015. Appendix A. No motion for reconsideration was made.

5. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue of whether the claim presentation statute can be

expanded beyond the language of the statute to include private corporations is an issue of first impression. The Court of Appeals should not have added a category of entity to which the claim presentation requirement of RCW 4.92.110 applies that is not listed in the statute. In particular the Court of Appeals should not have added a new category and then applied it retroactively to dismiss this cause. Further, the Court of Appeals interpretation is at odds with the Washington State Constitution's prohibition of special privileges and immunities to non-municipal corporations and, also, usurps the power of the legislature conferred by the Constitution with respect to suit against the state, thereby creating a violation of separation of powers.

6. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 4.92.110 creates a violation of the Washington State Constitution.

The addition of private corporations to the RCW 4.92.110 claim presentation requirement by the Court of Appeals constitutes an interpretation of the statute which would render it unconstitutional on two grounds. First, it would violate Article I, Section 12 by conferring special privileges and immunities on a private corporation which do not belong equally to all corporations. Second, it would violate separation of powers by usurping the role of the legislature, which under Article II, Section 26

is given the power to direct "in what manner, and in what courts, suit may be brought against the state."

The Association of University Physicians is a private, nonprofit corporation set up under Chapter 24.03 RCW. It is not a municipal corporation; it is not a "public corporation" set up under RCW 35.21.730. The Washington State Constitution prohibits the Association from being treated differently from any other corporation. The special claim filing requirement of Chapter 4.92 RCW cannot be applied to the Association without violating Art. 1, §12 of the Washington State Constitution.

Art. 1, §12 prohibits special privileges and immunities. It states:

No law shall be passed granting to any citizen, class of citizens, or corporation other than municipal, privileges or immunities which upon the same terms shall not belong equally to all citizens, or corporations.

Constitution of the State of Washington, Art. 1, §12. The Constitution at Article 1, §29 states: "The provisions of this Constitution are mandatory, unless by express words they are declared to be otherwise." Id.

Ockletree v. Franciscan Health System, 179 Wn.2d 769, 317 P.3d 1009 (2014) analyzes Article I, Section 12 of the Washington

Constitution. Ockletree pointed out that section 12 was passed "during a period of distrust toward laws that served special interests." Id. at 775.

The Supreme Court pointed out that "the purpose of Article I, Section 12 is to limit the sort of favoritism that ran rampart during the territorial period." In particular Ockletree notes:

Although the text of the clause was modeled after a similar provision in Oregon's 1859 Constitution, Washington's framers explicitly broadened the reach of the clause by including "corporations" in the language of Article I, Section 12.

<u>Id</u>.

Ockletree outlines a two step analysis for determining whether Article I, Section 12 is violated:

The first step is to analyze whether the law in question involves a privilege or immunity. If there is no privilege or immunity involved, then Article I, Section 12 is not implicated. If, on the other hand, the law involves a privilege or immunity, the second step in the analysis asks whether the legislature had a "reasonable ground" for granting the privilege or immunity.

<u>Id</u>. at 776 [citations omitted].

As interpreted by the Court of Appeals, RCW 4.92.110 confers a privilege or immunity to non-municipal private corporations established by the State not available to other corporations. "Claims filing laws serve the important function of fostering inexpensive settlement of tort claims." Daggs v. City of Seattle, 110 Wn.2d 49, 53, 750 P.2d 626 (1988). Claim filing statutes further provide a waiting period for the state to investigate a

case prior to suit being filed. "It is generally accepted that one of the purposes of the claim filing provisions is to allow government entities time to investigate, evaluate and settle claims." Medina v. Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Benton County, 147 Wn.2d 303, 310, 53 P.3d 993 (2002). The Court of Appeals with its decision has extended the privilege of time to investigate, evaluate and settle claims prior to commencement of an action to private corporations established by the state. This privilege does not exist for other private corporations. The first prong of the analysis is met.

The second prong of the analysis requires inquiry into whether "the legislature" had a reasonable ground for granting the privilege or immunity. In the case at bar the legislature did not grant the privilege at all. The Court of Appeals granted the privilege. Since the application of the claim presentment requirement to private corporations is a creation of the Court of Appeals in this case, it cannot be said the legislature had reasonable grounds for granting it.

Not only has the Court of Appeals created a privilege not available to other private corporations, but it has created a circumstance where it is difficult to even determine whether a claim has to be presented before filing suit. Under the Court of Appeals decision a trap is created for individuals who bring actions against private corporations established by

the state. It is not necessarily clear that a private corporation is in fact a creation of the state. For example Appendix D contains a copy of the Secretary of State website filing for The Association. There is nothing to indicate that the state is in any way involved with the corporation. Tort victims would be placed in a circumstance where they may not be able to know whether or not the corporation is one for which a claim needs to be presented until after discovery is conducted. This would be too late, since claim presentation is required before commencement.

The Court of Appeals, by adding private corporations created by the State to the claim presentation statute, also, violates separation of powers doctrine. "The Washington State Constitution does not contain a formal separation of powers clause, but the very division of our government into different branches has been presumed throughout our state's history to give rise to a vital separation of powers doctrine."

Putnam v. Wenatchee Valley Medical Center, 166 Wn.2d 974, 980, 216 P.3d 374 (2009) [internal quotation marks omitted].

Article II, Section 26 of the Washington Constitution states: "The legislature shall direct by law, in what manner, and in what courts, suit may be brought against the state." In the case at bar the Court of Appeals has added an entity to the claim presentation statute which was not included in that statute by the legislature.

The Court of Appeals by adding private corporations to the list of entities requiring RCW 4.92.110 claim presentation invades the province of the legislature by adding private corporations to the list of entities subject to the claim presentation requirement and by doing so violates separation of powers doctrine. The determination of entities subject to the claim presentation requirement is for the legislature, not the Court of Appeals.

The Association cannot receive the benefit of Chapter 4.92 RCW's claim presentation requirement without violation of the state constitution. It is neither municipal corporation nor "public" corporation, and, if it were to receive the benefit of the claim filing requirement of Chapter 4.92 RCW, it would be recipient of a privilege or immunity which does not exist for other corporations. Further, the legislature, not the Court of Appeals has the power to determine what entities are subject to the claim presentation requirement.

B. RCW 4.92.110 is unambiguous and adding language to the statute by the Court of Appeals was error.

The language of RCW 4.92.110 is unambiguous. It requires claim presentation prior to commencement of actions "against the state, or against any state officer, employee, or volunteer." It does not name private corporations set up by the state. There is nothing ambiguous about

any of the listed categories. The Court of Appeals has chosen to add private corporations established by the state to the statute.

The Washington Supreme Court has stated: "We cannot add words or classes to a statute when the legislature has chosen not to include that language." <u>Dot Foods, Inc. v. Washington Dept. of Revenue</u>, 166 Wn.2d 912, 920, 215 P.3d 185 (2009).

"Statutory interpretation begins with the statute's plain meaning. . . while we look to the broader statutory context for guidance, we must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them. . . if the statute is unambiguous after a review of the plain meaning, the court's inquiry is at an end."

Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010). [citations and quotation marks omitted].

Applying these principals to the case at bar, it is clear the Court of Appeals has improperly added language to an unambiguous statute. The legislature did not choose to include private corporations in its list of entities requiring claim presentation prior to lawsuit commencement. It only includes the state and the state's officers, employees or volunteers. RCW 4.92.110. The statute would have to be expanded beyond its plain language to impose a claim filing requirement on actions against the Association, a private corporation.

The legislature in RCW 4.92.110 passed legislation requiring claim presentation prior to commencement of lawsuits against the state. The legislature did not legislate that private corporations were subject to the claim filing requirement, and it is not as if this was oversight, since the legislature specifically included municipal corporations and quasimunicipal corporations in RCW 4.96.010, the claim presentation statute applicable to local government entities.

The Association cited <u>Good v. Associated Students</u>, 86 Wn.2d 94, 542 P.2d 762 (1975) as support for its contention a claim must be filed pursuant to Chapter 4.92 RCW before an action can be commenced against it. The Association's argument was that, despite its own corporate status, it is in effect the State of Washington.

Good involved suit by some disgruntled students. The Supreme Court described the issues before it as follows:

Plaintiffs raise two primary issues: (1) Does the University have the authority to allocate funds to the ASUW? (2) Are students' first amendment rights violated by (a) the requirement that they be members of the ASUW; (b) that they are charged a fee to support the ASUW?

<u>Id</u>. at 96. The case had nothing to do with the claim filing statute. Chapter 4.92 RCW was in no way involved and was not discussed in the opinion.

Good should not be used to expand the claim filing requirement of Chapter 4.92 RCW to include non-municipal corporations when the statute does not plainly so state. There is no case applying the claim filing requirement as advocated by the Association. The claim statute should not be so expanded.

The fact that the ASUW can be considered an arm of the state for purposes of the First Amendment does not mean the Association should be considered an arm of the state for purposes of application of Chapter 4.92 RCW.

There is no case where a private corporation set up pursuant to Chapter 24.03 RCW has been found subject to the claim filing requirement of Chapter 4.92 RCW. It cites <u>Woods v. Bailet</u>, 116 Wn.App. 658, 67 P.3d 511 (2003), but <u>Woods</u> involves a "public corporation" created by the City of Seattle pursuant to RCW 35.21.730, which allows cities or counties to set up public corporations. It does not involve a private corporation set up by the University pursuant to Chapter 24.03.

Additionally, <u>Woods</u> involved a different claim statute which the court recognized was ambiguous, Chapter 4.96 RCW. It noted Chapter 4.96 RCW applied to "quasi municipal corporations," an undefined term. It found the involved entity qualified under the statute as a "quasi municipal corporation" and that the filing requirement applied.

Chapter 4.92 RCW does not include "quasi municipal corporations" or any other ambiguous term that could give rise to a claim filing requirement applicable here. The Association is not the state, it is not an officer of the state, it is not an employee of the state, and it certainly is not a volunteer. There is no category in Chapter 4.92 RCW, ambiguous or otherwise, which fits the Association. The court would have to change the meaning of unambiguous statutory language for a claim filing requirement to be imposed on actions commenced against the Association.

The Association also cited Kleyer v. Harborview Medical Center,

76 Wn.App. 542, 887 P.2d 468 (1995). In Kleyer the court was not
dealing with application of RCW 4.92.110 to a private corporation.

Harborview was owned by King County and operated by the University of
Washington. The Kleyer plaintiffs tried to argue RCW 28B.20 provided
the exclusive method for bringing suit against the University of
Washington and that Chapter 4.92 RCW accordingly did not apply.

Kleyer simply held RCW 28B.20 does not alter the claim filing
requirements of Chapter 4.92 RCW.

Hardesty v. Stenchever, 82 Wn.App. 253, 917 P.2d 577 (1996) was also cited as support for its position by the Association. Hardesty involved a UW doctor who was personally named. The care he provided was within the scope of his employment with the University of

Washington. Under those circumstances a claim pursuant to Chapter 4.92 RCW was deemed necessary. In contrast the physician's care in the case at bar was in the course of her employ by the Association, a separate,

The claim filing requirement should not be extended to private corporations where the statute provides it only applies to claims

private corporation. In that circumstance no claim is required.

"...commenced against the state, or against any state officer, employee, or volunteer, acting in such capacity. . . ." RCW 4.92.110. The statute is not ambiguous; private corporations, regardless of who established them, are not included

No court has before held the claim filing requirement applicable to the circumstance involved here.

7. CONCLUSION.

The Court of Appeals decision should be reversed. This cause should be remanded for trial.