RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 25, 2015, 2:54 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 91703-5

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 70830-9-I)

#### STEVEN W. HYDE and SANDRA D. BROOKE,

Husband and wife,

Petitioners

v.

# UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON MEDICAL CENTER; and STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Defendants, and

THE ASSOCIATION OF UNIVERSITY PHYSICIANS, d/b/a UW PHYSICIANS,

Respondent.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael F. Madden, WSBA #8747 Special Assistant Attorney General Bennett Bigelow & Leedom, P.S. 601 Union Street, Suite 1500 Seattle WA 98101 (206) 622-5511 mmadden@bbllaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT



#

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

## A. The Court of Appeals' holding that UWP is an arm of the State is supported by Undisputed Facts and Consistent with Settled Law.

The Hydes do not dispute the following facts: (1) at the time they commenced suit, RCW 4.92.110 required a claim to be submitted more than 60 days before commencing a tort action against the "the state;"<sup>13</sup> (2) they did not comply with the statute;<sup>14</sup> (3) their intent in commencing suit, in which they named the State of Washington, the University of Washington Medical Center, and UWP as defendants, was to hold the State of Washington liable for the allegedly tortious actions of a UW employee—Dr. Hillard—who was acting in the course of her official state duties;<sup>15</sup> (4) solely by virtue of her UW medical school faculty appointment, Dr. Hillard, received additional compensation from UWP, an entity created and ultimately controlled by the UW, which bills and

- <sup>13</sup> Laws of 2012, c. 250, § 1.
- <sup>14</sup> CP 6.

<sup>15</sup> CP 1-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> App. A at 11.

collects professional fees for services rendered by UW faculty members, <sup>16</sup> and uses the funds it collects for the UW to further the UW's educational, scientific and patient care missions, including to pay statutorily authorized additional compensation to UW medical faculty for work performed as UW employees;<sup>17</sup> and (5) the UW is financially responsible for any judgment entered against UWP as a result of Dr. Hillard's alleged negligence.<sup>18</sup>

Applying the law to these undisputed facts, it is important to note that the requirement to give notice before suing the state for tort damages is a constitutionally authorized condition of the state's waiver of sovereign immunity. *Medina v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Benton Cnty.*, 147 Wn. 2d 303, 312, 53 P.3d 993 (2002). The purpose of the requirement is to allow governmental defendants time to investigate claims and pursue settlement before they are sued. *Estate of Connelly ex rel. Connelly v. Snohomish Cnty. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1*, 145 Wn. App. 941, 944-45, 187 P.3d 842 (2008). Like other aspects of governmental immunity, this requirement cannot be circumvented by "a mere pleading device," such as naming UWP rather than the UW or UW employee. *Young v. Duenas*, 164 Wn.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 21-32, 50, 60, 68-69, 71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 38-44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 75-76.

App. 343, 350, 262 P.3d 527, 531 (2011), quoting *Will v. Michigan*, 491 U.S. 58, 70–71, 109 S.Ct. 2304 (1989).

Petitioners do not challenge the numerous precedents recognizing that, for governmental immunity purposes, "the state" means more than just a governmental entity created by statute or constitutional provision. In this regard, it is well-settled that "suits against state officials in their official capacities are treated as suits against the state." *See, e.g. Harrell v. Washington State ex rel. Dep't of Soc. Health Servs.*, 170 Wn. App. 386, 405, 285 P.3d 159 (2012), *review granted*, 176 Wn. 2d 1011, 297 P.3d 706 (2013), citing *Hafer v. Melo*, 502 U.S. 21, 25, 112 S.Ct. 358 (1991).

*Hardesty v. Stenchever*, 82 Wn. App. 253, 261, 917 P.2d 577 (1996) illustrates application of this principle to notice of claim requirements. It held that a claim was required before suing a UW physician based on acts performed in the course of employment, stating that where a suit "exposes state funds to liability ... [it] ... is precisely the type of case to which RCW 4.92 applies." Of note, at the time *Hardesty* was decided, RCW 4.92.100 did not expressly provide pre-suit notice for actions against state employees or volunteers, as it now does.<sup>19</sup> Yet, the court had no difficulty concluding that a malpractice suit against a UW

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See Laws of 1986, c. 82, § 2 (adding requirement to give notice before suing state officers and employees).

physician for acts performed in the course of official duties, was in effect a suit against the state and, therefore, required pre-suit notice. *Id.* at 260-261. The situation here is identical; Dr. Stenchever, like Dr. Hillard, was a state employee and, by virtue of that employment, a member of UWP. The UW is financially responsible in either case.

Just as there was no valid reason to allow plaintiffs in *Hardesty* to evade the notice requirement by naming the involved UW physician as a defendant, there is no valid reason why petitioners should be allowed to circumvent the notice requirement by the device of naming an entity created by UW to bill and collect its employed physicians' fees. Their sole argument to the contrary, that an entity must be created by statute in order to be considered part of the state, is inconsistent with settled precedent. For example, *Kleyer v. Harborview*, 76 Wn. App. 542, 887 P.2d 468 (1995), held that RCW 4.92.110's requirement to submit a claim prior to suing the state applies to claims against Harborview Medical Center, notwithstanding the fact Harborview is a county-owned facility.

*Kleyer* is consistent with this Court's decision in *Hontz v. State*, 105 Wn.2d 302, 310, 714 P.2d 1176 (1986), which held that the mere fact of a contract between the UW and King County, whereby the UW assumed operational control and liability for medical negligence claims, was enough to convert the hospital into "an arm of the state." Both cases

applied a functional test to conclude that a suit against Harborview is "in legal effect a suit against the State."<sup>20</sup> Here, the Court of Appeals followed the same approach and reached the same conclusion.

There is no support for petitioners' assertion that a corporation cannot be deemed an arm or instrumentality of the state. In this regard, their effort to distinguish *Good v. Associated Students of Univ. Wash.*, is particularly unconvincing. *Good* involved the question whether the UW Board of Regents had authority to set up a not-for-profit corporation to administer student activities and to require students to pay fees to that corporation. On that issue, the court said,

We believe that the range of powers given to the board is sufficiently wide to encompass their decision to provide student activities and services through a separate nonprofit corporation, so long as that entity is in essence an agency of the university and subject to ultimate control by the board. This view is buttressed by the fact that the legislature is well aware of the corporate nature of the ASUW.

Id. at 97.

Petitioners' also make no effort to distinguish other cases, cited below, which illustrate the varieties of circumstances where corporations will be treated as instrumentalities of government. *Lebron v. Nat'l R.R.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Although the issue in *Hontz* was whether Harborview was functionally an arm of the state for purposes of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 liability, the same analysis is applicable for purposes of deciding whether a tort claim must be filed. *See Jones v. University of Washington*, 62 Wn. App. 653, 663, 814 P.2d 1236 (1991).

*Passenger Corp.*, 513 U.S. 374, 399, 115 S. Ct. 961 (1995), holds that a corporation is an agency of the Government "when the State has specifically created that corporation for the furtherance of governmental objectives, and not merely holds some shares but controls the operation of the corporation through its appointees." Decades earlier, *Clallam Cnty., Wash. v. United States*, 263 U.S. 341, 342, 44 S. Ct. 121 (1923) , held that a Washington corporation organized, capitalized and controlled by the federal government for purposes of producing lumber for use in war planes was immune from state taxation. Using nearly identical logic, the Ninth Circuit held that the Alaska Railroad Corporation was an arm of the state of Alaska for purposes of Eleventh Amendment immunity because, even though the state was insulated from liability for the corporation's actions, it served a "central government function." *Alaska Cargo Transport, Inc. v. Alaska R.R. Corp.*, 5 F.3d 378, 381 (9th Cir. 1993).

UWP is similar; its creation was authorized by the Board of Regents to serve the statutorily authorized purposes of the UW, including its School of Medicine and hospitals, it is ultimately controlled by the UW (acting through the Dean of the School of Medicine), and the Legislature has recognized its operation as a part of the UW by adoption of an exception to the single pay-check rule in RCW 42.52.110.

Petitioners' effort to distinguish Woods v. Bailet, 116 Wn. App. 658, 67 P.3d 511 (2003) also fails. That case involved interpretation of the phrase "local government entities" in RCW 4.96.020. The court concluded that the term included a corporation ("PacMed") established under RCW 35.21.270, notwithstanding the fact statute did not specify claims must be submitted before suing "public corporations" or their employees.<sup>21</sup> The Hydes argue, despite the very similar purposes of PacMed and UWP, that the absence of specific statutory authorization for UWP's creation by the UW distinguishes Wood. This is a distinction without a difference in this context; the "arm of the state" and "instrumentality" cases do not depend to any degree on the entity being created specifically by statute. For example, no statute specifically created the relationship between the UW and Harborview. Rather, the relationship that required filing of a tort claim was created by contract.<sup>22</sup> Although such contracts are authorized by statute,<sup>23</sup> that authorization is no different than the UW Board of Regents' authority under RCW 28B.10.130, which was interpreted in Good to allow establishment of non-profit corporations deemed necessary to fulfill the UW's mission.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> 116 Wn. App. at 664.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Kleyer v. Harborview, 76 Wn. App. at 543, n.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> RCW 36.62.290.

#### B. Petitioners' Constitutional Arguments lack Merit.

Petitioners' constitutional argument assumes the Court of Appeals erred in its determination that UWP is an arm of the state for purposes of tort immunity, and reasons from that assumption that applying RCW 4.92.110 to a private corporation affiliated with the state amounts to the grant of a privilege or immunity that is not available to other corporations, and that there is no reasonable ground for doing so.<sup>24</sup> As the Court of Appeals correctly pointed out, however, this argument loses its logical underpinnings if the entity in question is one for which the state is liable in tort.

Further, the argument proves too much, because Article 1, Section 12 also prohibits the grant of privileges and immunities to "any citizen ... which upon the same terms shall not belong equally to all citizens." Therefore, under petitioners' view of the law, the Legislature would be prohibited from requiring pre-suit notice with respect to actions against state employees and volunteers, for action taken in the course of official duties.

Petitioners' suggestion that the Court of Appeals violated the separation of powers doctrine by interpreting the statute is similarly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Petition at 7.

unsupported. Courts have the right and duty to interpret statutes.<sup>25</sup> The Court of Appeals conclusion that the statutory requirement to give notice prior to suing "the state" extends to arms of the state, represents nothing other than the exercise of traditional judicial power to declare the meaning of legislative enactments.<sup>26</sup>

## V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court of Appeals' decision does not present an issue warranting Supreme Court review. Accordingly, the petition should be denied.

Respectfully submitted this  $\underline{24}$  day of June, 2015.

BENNETT BIGELOW & LEEDOM, P.S.

By: 2

Michael Madden, WSBA #8747 Special Assistant Attorney General

Attorneys for Respondent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Franklin Cnty. Sheriff's Office v. Sellers, 97 Wn. 2d 317, 330, 646 P.2d 113 (1982) (courts have "inherent authority to determine the correct law").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Cecchi v. Bosa, 186 Wash. 205, 209, 57 P.2d 1064, 1065 (1936) ("A statute, when interpreted by the court, speaks according to the judicial interpretation given it.").